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About ScotGems

Small cap companies are defined as those with a market capitalisation of less than USD 2.5 billion at the time of
investment.
The Company may only invest in smaller unlisted companies where it is reasonably expected that such companies
will be listed within 12 months from the time of investment.
The portfolio will typically range between 20 and 30 holdings in normal market circumstances.
The Board of ScotGems plc believes that a positive long-term investment opportunity exists through identifying
promising small cap companies across the world, controlled and run by responsible stewards and effective
management.

Investment Manager

The Company’s Investment Manager is Stewart Investors (“the Investment Manager”). Stewart Investors is a
trading name used by First State Investments International Limited in circumstances where investment
management services are being provided by the Stewart Investors business unit.
Stewart Investors manages portfolios on behalf of clients in Asia Pacific, Emerging Market, Frontier, Latin
American, Worldwide and Sustainable equity investment strategies.
Primarily based in Edinburgh, with offices in London, Singapore and Sydney, Stewart Investors has a distinct
culture and investment philosophy which is unchanged in more than two decades, since the launch of the first
Asia Pacific (ex Japan) investment strategy in 1988.

Financial Information
At
31 December
2018

At
31 December
2017

% change

Net assets
Net asset value (“NAV”) per Ordinary share†
Ongoing charges(1)
Share price
Share price discount to NAV(1)
MSCI AC World Index (Capital basis in GBP)

£49.84m
93.10p
1.47%
92.50p
0.6%
357.77

£51.27m
95.77p
1.50%
93.00p
2.9%
379.25

(2.8)%
(2.8)%
–
(0.5)%
–
(5.7)%

MSCI AC World Small Cap Index (Capital basis in GBP)

1,053.40

1,177.20

(10.5)%

758.30

856.37

(11.5)%

MSCI Emerging Markets Index (Capital basis in GBP)

Net asset value or NAV. The value of total assets less current liabilities divided by the number of shares in issue produces
the net asset value per Ordinary share.
Alternative Performance Measures
(1)
Please refer to page 28 for information and a reconciliation of the Alternative Performance Measures to the year end results.
†
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ScotGems plc (“the Company”) was launched on 26 June 2017 as an investment trust, investing in small cap
companies globally. The Company’s objective is to provide long-term capital growth by investing in a diversified
portfolio of small cap companies listed on global stock markets across a range of sectors.

Chairman’s Statement

I am delighted to present the second Annual Report
and Accounts of your Company for the year ended
31 December 2018.
Shareholders will remember that the Company was
launched on 26 June 2017 and raised a net £50.3 million.
Subsequently an additional £3.2 million was raised
through further small placings of shares. As at
31 December 2017 approximately 36.7% of shareholders’
funds was invested in equities, as the Investment
Managers made slow and careful progress in selecting
companies that met our exacting criteria, both for the
prospects of growth and the quality and integrity of the
management. I am pleased that at 31 December 2018 the
proportion invested had increased to 72.3% and as at
4 March 2019 had further increased to 77.1%.
During 2018 the share price fell by 0.5% and the Net
Asset Value (“NAV”) by 2.8%. This compares to falls in
the MSCI AC World Index, the MSCI AC World Small
Cap Index and MSCI Emerging Markets Index of 5.7%,
10.5% and 11.5% respectively.
Since inception the share price has fallen by 7.5% and
the NAV by 6.9%. This compares to falls in the MSCI AC
World Index, the MSCI AC World Small Cap Index and
MSCI Emerging Markets Index of 2.6%, 6.3% and 5.2%
respectively.
I recognise that we have recorded a modest loss in the
period since launch, however may I remind
shareholders that it is our intention to create a longterm portfolio of between 20 and 30 companies the
market capitalisation of which is less than $2.5 billion at
the time of investment. In that sense the short-term
performance figures, in my view, are a poor guide to
the long-term potential of these investments. The
Investment Managers have set out on pages 4 to 9 a
detailed description of the existing portfolio as well as
describing their philosophy in selecting the particular
companies in which ScotGems invests.

As I mentioned in the Interim Statement in September,
the High Court confirmed the cancellation of the
balance of the Company’s share premium account
which had arisen from premiums paid on the Ordinary
shares at launch. An equivalent amount was credited to
the Company’s special reserve, which is distributable,
and may be used to buy back the Company’s shares.
During the year the discount has narrowed from
approximately 2.9% to 0. 6%. It is not currently the
Board's policy to buy back shares. The premise on which
the Company was founded was to make long-term
investments in quality companies.
The Annual General Meeting will be held on 30 April
2019 at the offices of our Investment Managers, First
State Investments, and I look forward to seeing many of
you there. Of course there will be a presentation by the
Investment Managers and an opportunity to question
them in more detail about individual investments that
the Company has made.
William Salomon

ScotGems Investment Management Team

Ashish Swarup
Lead Manager
Ashish joined the team in 2014 and has over a decade’s
experience in managing equity investments. He also
brings real life knowledge and experience of working
in the technology industry, particularly in the area of
supply chain management, much of which can be
applied in his analysis of companies. Prior to joining
Stewart Investors, he was Portfolio Manager (Global
Emerging Markets) at Fidelity Management &
Research and Fidelity Investments. Ashish has a
Degree in Electronics and Communication
Engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology,
a Post Graduate Diploma in Management from the
Indian Institute of Management, and holds a MBA
from INSEAD in France.

Tom Allen
Co-Manager
Tom joined the team in June 2012 and has six years of
experience. Tom is responsible for providing research
support for the portfolio managers, covering primarily
the Asia Pacific ex-Japan region and all industry sectors.
He holds a BA (Hons) in History from University
College London.
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Stewart Investors’ investment team includes investment
professionals located in Edinburgh, London, Singapore
and Sydney. The investment team, which manages
close to $26bn in assets, is united by a shared
investment philosophy that focuses on responsible
stewardship. The investment approach represents a
balance between the collegiate (with research shared
across the entire Stewart Investors’ investment team)
and the individual (each fund has a lead manager who
is ultimately responsible for the style and construction
of the portfolio). Everyone in the team is considered an
analyst and responsible for fundamental bottom up
research. Ashish Swarup is the Company’s lead
manager and is responsible for the selection of Small
Cap Companies for the Company’s portfolio in
accordance with the Company’s investment policy. Tom
Allen is the co-manager. Ashish and Tom also work
together on Asia Pacific (ex-Japan) and Global Emerging
Markets funds.

Investment Manager’s Report

We continue to build the portfolio. The portfolio now
contains 22 companies, most of which we can add to at
more attractive valuations. There are other companies,
not currently held in the portfolio, which we would like
to buy if their valuations weaken. The cash held has
been evenly split into British Pounds, Singaporean
Dollars, and US Dollars (the US Dollar balance is held
in US Treasury Bills).
It was a tough year for Emerging Market Equities.
Share prices of businesses operating in countries with
shaky institutions and large external imbalances were
hit the most. Our opportunity set in markets such as
Turkey and Argentina is limited in any case. Lack of
robust political and judicial institutions often mean that
crony capitalism(1) thrives in these countries at the
expense of honest self-made private entrepreneurs.
Unfortunately, share prices in countries like India and
Taiwan, where we have traditionally found many well
stewarded private companies, still remain expensive.
The primary quality we look for when choosing
companies in which to invest our clients' money is
stewardship. We are only interested in backing
management teams who run their companies with a
long-term ‘owner-manager’ mind-set. We obsess over
the history of key people at our companies, assessing
their attitudes towards minority shareholders,
employees, suppliers, government and the environment
they operate in. Any sign of mistreatment is a red flag
to us because if a company cuts corners in one area, it is
likely to do the same in other areas, which could
ultimately have negative repercussions for minority
investors. For this reason we believe the most effective
way to mitigate against unpredictability and risk is to
back honest family-led management teams with a
record of growing robust businesses.
Unfortunately, many companies listed on public stock
exchanges suffer from a ‘principal agent’ conflict. The
interests of management teams as ‘agents’ are not
aligned with the shareholders of the companies, as
management’s compensation is often linked to short
term incentive plans. It is therefore quite rare for us to
find the true qualities of ‘stewardship’ we are looking
(1)

for in a management team, and often we find them in
companies with a large dominant shareholder.
Well-stewarded family-controlled businesses, aiming to
preserve and expand wealth for the future, are in the
fortunate position of being able to ignore external and
internal pressures to maximise immediate returns.
Their managements are not obliged to look over their
shoulders in fear of an opportunistic take-over bid or to
gear up their balance sheets to a dangerous extent. Nor
are they likely to be subject to the temptations of poorly
designed incentive schemes. Hence they can take a
much more holistic and longer term view in decision
making than most companies with open shareholder
registers. In an intensely competitive environment, a
longer time horizon and a willingness to take shortterm pain for the sake of long-term gains becomes a key
competitive advantage.
RCL Foods (RCL), a South African food producer, is a
good example of this dynamic. RCL is majority-owned
by Remgro, a family conglomerate with a reputation for
long termism and strong business ethics. RCL
historically focused on chicken and milling, until a few
years ago when the strategy pivoted towards branded
foods. Cash flows from the commodity businesses were
channelled towards the higher-valued branded
business. These cash flows were highly cyclical though,
which was disruptive for the branded business.
Management addressed the issue by reducing the
cyclicality of the commodity business. It meant giving
up some potential upside and profits in the near term in
order to offer long term stability for the small, but
growing, branded business. A decision like this is only
possible because of the multi-year time horizon of the
major shareholder, Remgro, who has the vision to see
that in ten years’ time a branded foods business will be
a lot more valuable than a commodity food business.
Voltronic is a Taiwanese business that manufactures
uninterruptible power supplies, equipment that offers
emergency power in the event of a mains outage. The
company was founded a decade ago by Alex Hsieh, a
proven entrepreneur, whose previous venture was

Crony Capitalism is an economic system characterised by close, mutually advantageous relationships between
business leaders and government officials.

Our willingness to invest for the long-term means that
we focus more on judging the quality of the people
behind the business than the business itself. Often at
the time of purchase, these businesses might be going
through a difficult phase. These difficulties usually
make them unpopular and allow us to acquire shares
at a relatively cheaper price. Our expectation is that as
long as our judgement on the ‘people’ is correct, these
businesses will recover or evolve into something more
robust.
Singapore-listed Delfi is one such example. It is the
largest chocolate confectionary company in Indonesia
by market share. The business was founded in the
1980s by John Chuang, an entrepreneur who has
adopted a conservative and honest approach towards
business in a challenging market. Delfi was successful
for a long time, until a few years ago when it started to
experience difficulties. With the formalisation of retail,
the market changed. This opening was exploited by
aggressive local players, as well as by multi-national
chocolate brands which appealed to growing
Indonesian middle class aspirations for premium
brands. Delfi started to lose market share.
John Chuang realised the family business needed to
upgrade its capabilities in order to compete, which
meant recruiting talented board directors and
professional managers. Testament to the reputation of

the family and the willingness of the owner to develop
a culture of true autonomy and meritocracy, Delfi was
able to attract a number of high-quality professionals.
These professionals replaced family members and loyal
company servants, who had taken the business as far as
they could. These decisions can be painful and rare in
the context of family owner-managers, who often
construct glass ceilings for professional managers. The
events signalled that the Chuang family were willing to
separate ownership and management, as they
prioritised the long-term health of the business.
The changes initiated by John Chuang are now in full
swing; underperforming brands have been cut,
premium products have been introduced, and an
improved route-to-market strategy has been
implemented. Such improvements will take time to
translate to profit growth, and in the meantime we have
been able to acquire shares in the company at a
reasonable price. In our view, Delfi now has a good
combination of quality professionals (‘agents’) running
the daily operations of the company; and a dominant
shareholder (‘principal’) who is focused on the long
term to ensure sensible capital allocation.
Companies already held in the portfolio and deemed
investable are constantly scrutinised by the team for
anything that might break our investment thesis, with
the investment thesis itself under constant review. A
company we held briefly last year was PZ Cussons, a
branded home and personal care business, whose
largest markets include Indonesia and Nigeria. The
company needed to upgrade its capabilities to compete
more effectively with local brands in emerging markets.
We were encouraged by changes at board level, and
expected further developments at an operational level.
However, the company made it clear to us that the
controlling family shareholder was happy with the
status quo, at which point we questioned our thesis and
exited the position, fortunately for no loss.
In an ideal world all of our companies would have a
family steward, with a track record of strong business
ethics and proven conservatism, as the controlling
shareholder. In reality we are still unable to unearth
families that we trust and want to back in some
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acquired by a multi-national competitor with deep
pockets. Voltronic’s success owes to the fact that
management have won the trust of customers by
sticking exclusively to original design manufacturing
(ODM), which means it does not have its own brand
that would compete with its customers. The same
cannot be said for other ODM companies, who have
launched their own brands in an effort to boost
revenues. This strategy will invariably impact the
competitors’ long-term ability to win tier one ODM
contracts. Alex Hsieh meanwhile is only interested in
the long-term sustainability of the business, recognising
that the outsourcing trend is in its infancy, and that if
he continues to hold the trust of leading international
brands then Voltronic will be a much larger business in
the future.

Investment Manager’s Report (continued)

countries. Nigeria is a case in point. In this context the
next best thing is a local subsidiary of a multi-national
with an identifiable value system and corporate culture.
This is why we invested in Unilever Nigeria.
In recent years Unilever’s Nigerian business has
followed its parent company in embracing health
trends, whilst at the same time it has localised its
management and supply chain operations. Its
management team is properly empowered by the
parent company to think like owners and ignore the
short term in order to build the foundations for longterm growth. Such autonomy was lacking in the past
and partly explains why the market cap of Unilever
Nigeria ($600m) is tiny in comparison to Unilever’s
operations in India ($40bn) and Indonesia ($30bn).
The long-term success of a bottom-up investment
process like ours relies on an investment culture which
embraces open and honest debate, where fresh ideas are
routinely encouraged. New investment ideas typically
involve months of work and debate before we are able
to judge whether there is genuine stewardship and a
business model worth backing. When a new company
fits our criteria, we begin investing with small
positions, conscious of valuations, and we build
conviction over several years.
Ashish Swarup and Tom Allen
Stewart Investors

Contribution Analysis

Contribution

Positive
Profitability at Youngone Holdings increased as a
result of improvements at Scott, the sporting brand that
the company acquired in 2015.

Negative
RCL Foods’ business model continues to show positive
signs of change, with its branded business recording
decent growth. Negative sentiment towards South
Africa impacted the share price and South African
Rand.

The convenience store operator Philippine Seven did
well as the management team continued to execute its
strategy of nationwide coverage in the Philippines.
Haw Par is the holding company of the Wee family of
Singapore. Its assets include the pain ointment Tiger
Balm, which continues to grow in Asia and developed
markets.
Sentiment towards Turkey stabilised somewhat
following a painful few months. During the crisis we
purchased shares in Coca-Cola Icecek, which bottles
Coca-Cola in Turkey, Pakistan, and Central Asia.
Voltronic’s business continued to perform well as a
result of market share gains.

Delfi is in the middle of a turnaround led by new
management. There was some short term pressure on
the results because of product portfolio rationalisation
and additional brand investments. Encouragingly these
initiatives are now showing up in recent financial
results.
The low-cost hospital operator Narayana Hrudayalaya
recorded lower profits as a result of investments in new
hospital capacity.
Long4Life, the investment company of proven
entrepreneur Brian Joffe, was also impacted by negative
sentiment towards South Africa.
We are encouraged by Vinda’s continued market share
gains within the tissue category in China but the share
price weakened on general concerns regarding Chinese
consumer sentiment.

Top Five Contributors – Year ended 31 December
2018
Company

Contribution to Return %

Top Five Detractors – Year ended 31 December
2018
Company

Contribution to Return %

Youngone Holdings

0.69

RCL Foods

-0.87

Philippine Seven

0.39

Delfi

-0.79

Haw Par

0.18

Narayana Hrudayalaya

-0.61

Coca-Cola Icecek

0.18

Long4Life

-0.57

Voltronic

0.17

Vinda

-0.51
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Contribution

Portfolio at 31 December 2018

Company

Country

Industry

Shareholders’
Funds Valuation
%
£’000

Tata Global Beverages

India
Food Products
Domestic and international business, primarily focussed on tea and coffee with
interesting partnerships.

5.8%

2,879

Philippine Seven

5.7%

2,856

Singapore
Food Products
Indonesia’s leading chocolate confectionary brand in terms of market share.

5.3%

2,651

Bank OCBC Nisp

4.8%

2,414

South Africa
Food Products
Commodity foods business that is developing a portfolio of branded products.

4.7%

2,358

Youngone Holdings

4.6%

2,270

Unilever Nigeria

Nigeria
Household Products
Local subsidiary of multi-national consumer goods company Unilever.

4.3%

2,165

Cyient

India
Software
An engineering outsourcing business with global clients in industries such as aerospace
and transportation.

4.3%

2,122

Batu Kawan

Malaysia
Chemicals
Family holding company whose primary asset is a plantation company.

4.1%

2,035

Coca-Cola Icecek

3.8%

1,871

47.4%

23,621

3.1%

1,564

3.1%

1,530

Haw Par

Singapore
Pharmaceuticals
Family conglomerate whose assets include the Tiger Balm brand and Singaporean bank UOB.

3.0%

1,512

Greatview Aseptic Packaging

Hong Kong
Containers & Packaging
Packaging for dairy products and non-carbonated soft drinks products.

2.4%

1,184

Hero Supermarket

1.9%

943

Philippines

Foods & Staples Retailing

7-Eleven convenience franchise in the Philippines.
Delfi

Indonesia
Local subsidiary of Singaporean bank OCBC.

Banks

RCL Foods

Korea
Garment manufacturer with facilities across Asia.

Textiles, Apparel & Luxury Goods

Turkey
Beverages, Non Alcoholic
Coca-Cola bottler in Turkey, Pakistan, and Central Asia.
Top 10 Equity Investments
Vinda International

Hong Kong

Household Products

Paper products and personal care products in China and Asia Pacific.
Grupo Herdez

Mexico
Processed foods in Mexico and the US.

Food Products

Indonesia
Food Retail
Local subsidiary of Jardine-owned Dairy Farm, operating in various retail formats.

Country

Industry

Suprajit Engineering

India
Auto Parts & Equipment
Auto component manufacturer specialising in cables and lamps.

1.9%

942

Leeno Industrial

Semiconductors &
Semiconductor Equipment
Manufactures testing equipment for the semiconductor industry.

1.8%

921

Voltronic Power

Taiwan
Manufactures and sells uninteruptable power supplies.

Electrical Equipment

1.7%

840

Sundaram Finance

India
Finance company with a focus on commercial vehicles.

Finance, Rental, & Leasing

1.6%

763

Narayana Hrudayalaya

Hospital & Nursing Management

1.5%

746

69.4%

34,566

1.5%

741

GlaxoSmithKline Nigeria

1.4%

706

Total Equity Investments

72.3%

36,013

10.0%

4,984

Total Fixed Interest Investments

10.0%

4,984

Total Investments

82.3%

40,997

Cash

17.7%

8,849

Net current liabilities

(0.0%)

(8)

Shareholders' Funds

100.0%

49,838

Korea

India
Chain of low cost heart surgery hospitals in India.
Top 20 Equity Investments
Long4Life

South Africa

Capital Markets

Investment company of entrepreneur Brian Joffe.
Nigeria
Pharmaceuticals
Consumer goods focused local subsidiary of global pharmaceutical company.
US Treasury Bill 14/03/2019

USA
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Shareholders’
Funds Valuation
%
£’000

Strategic Report for the Year
to 31 December 2018

Introduction

The report which follows is designed to provide
shareholders with information about:
• the environment within which the Company
operates;
• the Board’s strategy for achieving its stated
objectives;
• principal risks and risk management; and
• shareholders’ returns measured against key
performance indicators.

Principal Activity and Status

The Company is incorporated in England and Wales
(registered number 10755475). It is an investment
company as defined by Section 833 of the Companies
Act 2006. It carries on the business of an investment
trust and has been approved as such by HM Revenue
& Customs.

Investment Policy

The Company seeks to achieve its investment objective
by investing in a diversified portfolio of Small Cap
Companies listed on global stock markets across a
range of sectors. Small Cap Companies are defined as
those with a market capitalisation of less than USD 2.5
billion at the time of investment. The Company may
only invest in small unlisted companies where it is
reasonably expected that such companies will be listed
within 12 months from the time of investment. The
aggregate value of all investments in unlisted
companies (based on the original book cost of each
investment) shall be limited to 15 per cent. of the net
assets of the Company at the time of investment. The
Company’s portfolio is expected to be concentrated as
the number of investments in the portfolio will
typically range between 20 and 30 holdings in normal
market circumstances. It is intended that a diversified
portfolio will be maintained at all times, and the single
largest investment will not exceed 15 per cent. of the net
assets of the Company at the time of investment.
The Company has not set any maximum or minimum
exposures for any geographical regions or sectors and
will achieve an appropriate spread of risk by investing

in a diversified portfolio of equity and equity related
securities issued by Small Cap Companies including,
for example (but without limitation), ordinary,
preference, non-voting and convertible securities and
warrants. However, the Company’s exposure to
warrants will not exceed 5 per cent. of the Company’s
net assets at the time of investment and the Company
will not hold warrants if their exercise would breach
any other limits set out in this investment policy. The
Company will not participate in any stocklending or
short selling of securities.
Other than warrants, derivatives may only be used for
the purpose of efficient portfolio management and with
the prior approval of the Board. Cash can be held for
working capital purposes and while awaiting
investment. It can be invested in cash deposits, gilts and
money market securities, fixed interest securities and
money market funds.
The Company may borrow money for investment
purposes if the Board considers it appropriate.
Borrowings are limited to a maximum of 20 per cent. of
the Company’s net assets at the time of drawdown.
Any material change to the Company’s investment
policy will require the approval of shareholders at a
general meeting. In the event of a breach of the
Company’s investment policy, the Board will announce
through a Regulatory Information Service the actions
which will be taken to rectify the breach.

Performance

The investment portfolio at 31 December 2018 can be
found on pages 8 and 9.
The Board assesses its performance in meeting the
Company’s objectives against the following Key
Performance Indicators:
• share price and net asset value per share over the
long-term;
• the range of the discount or premium to net asset
value at which the Company’s shares trade. At the
end of the year under review the discount to NAV
was 0.6%, with a range of 12.1% discount to a
premium of 0.6% throughout the year;

Business Model and Strategy for Achieving
Objectives

The Company is an externally managed investment
trust and its shares are premium listed on the Official
List and traded on the main market of the London
Stock Exchange.
As an externally managed investment trust all of the
Company’s day to day management and administrative
functions are outsourced to service providers. As a
result, the Company has no Executive Directors,
employees or internal operations.
The Board has retained responsibility for risk
management and has appointed Stewart Investors to
manage its investment portfolio. Company secretarial
and administrative services are outsourced to
PATAC Limited.
A review of the Company’s returns during the financial
year, the position of the Company at the year end and
the outlook for the coming year are contained within
the Chairman’s Statement and Investment Manager’s
Report on pages 2 to 9.

Investment Manager

The Company has appointed First State Investments
(UK) Limited as its Alternative Investment Fund
Manager (“AIFM”) in accordance with the AIFM
Directive and has entered into the AIFM Agreement
with the AIFM.
Pursuant to the terms of the AIFM Agreement and for
the purposes of the AIFM Directive, the AIFM will,
inter alia, manage the investments and other assets of
the Company with the sole responsibility for the
portfolio management and risk management of the
assets of the Company in each case in accordance with
the Company’s investment policy. Under the terms of

the Investment Management Agreement, the AIFM has
delegated to Stewart Investors the management of the
Company’s portfolio.
Under the terms of the AIFM Agreement, the AIFM is
entitled to receive a fee of one per cent. per annum of
the Company’s NAV calculated and payable quarterly
in arrears. The AIFM Agreement is terminable by either
party giving 90 days’ written notice to the other party
subject to an initial term of two years. The AIFM
Agreement may also be terminated on the resignation
or the removal of the Investment Manager under the
Investment Management Agreement. However, the
AIFM Agreement is not able to be terminated until
another AIFM has been appointed subject to a
maximum notice period of six months.
The Board, having conducted its review, considers that
the AIFM and the Investment Manager’s continued
appointments are in the best interests of shareholders.
Employees of Stewart Investors, including the portfolio
managers, are heavily invested in ScotGems both as
individuals (2,461,210 shares) and through The Stewart
Investors Employee Benefit Trust (5,000,000 shares).

Dividend Policy

The Company does not have any policy to achieve any
specified level of dividend. It is not envisaged that
dividends will be paid in the early years of the
Company. However, over the longer term, if the income
received from the Company’s investments materially
exceeds the Company’s annual expenses, the Company
expects to pay dividends.

Competitive and Regulatory Environment

The Company is an investment trust quoted on the
London Stock Exchange and is a member of the
Association of Investment Companies (“AIC”).
The Company operates so as to comply with Section
1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010, which allows it to
be exempted from capital gains tax on investment gains.
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• ongoing charges percentage, calculated using the
methodology recommended by the Association of
Investment Companies. This percentage was capped
by the Investment Manager at 1.5% of the year end
NAV.

Strategic Report for the Year
to 31 December 2018 (continued)

In addition to publishing annual and interim accounts
the Company announces net asset values per Ordinary
share daily and provides more detailed statistical
information on a monthly basis to the AIC in order to
enable investors and brokers to compare its
performance and other relevant information with
those of its peer group, the AIC Global Smaller
Companies Sector.

Other risks faced by the Company include breach of
regulatory rules which could lead to suspension of the
Company’s Stock Exchange listing, financial penalties,
or a qualified audit report. Breach of Section 1158 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010 could lead to the Company
being subject to tax on capital gains. Details of the
Company’s financial risks are contained in the Notes to
the Accounts on pages 23 to 27.

The Company also publishes investment updates to
shareholders together with portfolio information and
performance statistics, on the Company’s website
www.scotgems.com. Shareholders can also use this
website to sign up for regular updates on the portfolio.

In the mitigation and management of these risks, the
Board regularly monitors the investment environment
and the management of the Company’s investment
portfolio, and applies the principles detailed in the
guidance provided by the Financial Reporting Council.
The Company’s internal controls are described in more
detail on pages 40 and 41.

Environmental, Social and Governance Policy

As an investment trust, the Company has no direct
social, community, employee or environmental
responsibilities. Its principal responsibility to
shareholders is to ensure that the investment portfolio
is properly invested and managed. The Company has
no employees and has no requirement to report
separately on this area, as the management of the
portfolio has been delegated to the Investment
Manager.

Principal Risks and Risk Management

The Board believes that the principal risks to
shareholders, which it seeks to mitigate through
continual review of its investments and through
shareholder communication, are events or
developments which can affect the general level of
share prices and currencies, including, for instance,
inflation or deflation, economic recessions and
movements in interest rates and currencies.

By Order of the Board
PATAC Limited
Secretary
21 Walker Street
Edinburgh EH3 7HX
5 March 2019

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December 2018
Capital
return
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
£’000

–

603

149

–

149

Investment income

2

603

Losses on investments held at fair
value through profit or loss

6

–

(1,570)

(1,570)

–

(780)

(780)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)

6

–

348

348

–

(708)

(708)

(619)

149

(1,488)

(1,339)

Total income/(loss)
Expenses

603
3

Loss before taxation
Taxation
Loss for the year
Loss per share

(748)
(145)

4,5

(29)

(1,222)
–
(1,222)
–

(748)

(397)

(1,367)

(248)

(29)

(16)

–
(1,488)
–

(397)
(1,736)
(16)

(174)

(1,222)

(1,396)

(264)

(1,488)

(1,752)

(0.33p)

(2.28p)

(2.61p)

(0.49p)

(2.81p)

(3.30p)

The Total column of this statement represents the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Company. The Revenue
return and Capital return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance issued by the Association
of Investment Companies.
All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.
Loss per share is calculated on 53,533,770 shares (2017: 53,533,770), being the weighted average number in issue during
the year.

The Notes to the Accounts on pages 17 to 27, including the accounting policies on pages 17 and 18, form part of these accounts.
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Revenue
return
Notes
£’000

Period ended 31 December 2017

Statement of Financial Position

Notes

31 December
2018
£’000

31 December
2017
£’000

6

40,997

25,784

7

210

23

8,849

25,932

9,059

25,955

Non-current assets
Investments held at fair value through profit or loss
Current assets
Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Current liabilities
Payables

8

Net current assets
Net assets

(218)

(471)

8,841

25,484

49,838

51,268

Capital and reserves
Ordinary share capital

535

535

Share premium

9

3,136

52,485

Special reserve

49,315

–

Capital reserve

(2,710)

(1,488)

(438)

(264)

Revenue reserve
Total equity
Shares in issue at year end
Net asset value per Ordinary share

9

49,838

51,268

53,533,770

53,533,770

93.10p

95.77p

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and signed on its
behalf on 5 March 2019 by:

William Salomon
Chairman

The Notes to the Accounts on pages 17 to 27, including the accounting policies on pages 17 and 18, form part of these accounts.

Statement of Changes in Equity
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Share
premium
£’000

Special
reserve
£’000

535

52,485

–

(1,488)

(264)

51,268

Loss for the year

–

–

–

(1,222)

(174)

(1,396)

Share premium cancellation

–

(49,315)

49,315

–

–

–

Share premium cancellation costs

–

(34)

–

–

–

(34)

For the year ended
31 December 2018
Balance at 31 December 2017

Balance at 31 December 2018

Capital
reserve
£’000

535

3,136

49,315

Ordinary
share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
£’000

Special
reserve
£’000

Balance at launch

–

–

–

Loss for the period

–

–

–

535

53,007

–

–

–

–

–

–

For the period ended
31 December 2017

Issue of Ordinary shares
Share issue costs
Balance at 31 December 2017

–
535

(522)
52,485

–

(2,710)

Revenue
reserve
£’000

Capital
reserve
£’000
–
(1,488)

(1,488)

(438)

Total
£’000

49,838

Revenue
reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

–

–

(264)

(264)

(1,752)
53,542
(522)
51,268

Share premium. The share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of new Ordinary
shares issued and the consideration the Company receives for these shares.
Special reserve. Created from the Court cancellation of the share premium account which had arisen from
premiums paid on the Ordinary shares at launch. Available as distributable profits to be used for the buy back of
shares. The cost of any shares bought back is deducted from this Reserve. The cost of any shares resold from
treasury is added back to this Reserve.
Capital reserve. Gains and losses on the realisation of investments, realised exchange differences of a capital
nature and returns of capital are accounted for in this Reserve. Increases and decreases in the valuation of
investments held at the year end, and unrealised exchange differences of a capital nature are also accounted for in
this Reserve.
Revenue reserve. Any surplus/deficit arising from the revenue profit/loss for the year is taken to/from
this Reserve.

The Notes to the Accounts on pages 17 to 27, including the accounting policies on pages 17 and 18, form part of these accounts.

ScotGems
Statement of Changes in Equity

Ordinary
share
capital
£’000

Cash Flow Statement

Note
Net cash outflow from operations before dividends,
interest, purchases and sales
Dividends received from investments
Interest from deposits

10

Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000

Period ended
31 December
2017
£’000

(1,028)

(90)

486

93

3

–

Purchases of investments*

(48,993)

(33,459)

Sales of investments

32,239

7,013

Cash outflow from operations

(17,293)

(26,443)

(29)

(12)

(17,322)

(26,455)

†

Taxation
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Financing activities
Issue of Ordinary shares

–

53,542

Cost of share issues

(75)

Costs of share premium conversion

(34)

–

(109)

53,095

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(17,431)

26,640

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year

25,932

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities

Effect of currency gains/(losses)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year‡

348
8,849

(447)

–
(708)
25,932

*Purchases of investments includes £24,781,000 (2017: £14,182,000) in relation to the purchase of US Treasury Bills.
†

Sales of investments includes £27,132,000 (2017: £7,010,000) in relation to the maturity of US Treasury Bills.

Cash and cash equivalents represents cash at bank.

‡

The Notes to the Accounts on pages 17 to 27, including the accounting policies on pages 17 and 18, form part of these accounts.

Notes to the Accounts

1. Accounting Policies

The accounts are prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006, United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (Accounting Standards
“UK GAAP”) including Financial Reporting Standard
(FRS) 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and the Statement
of Recommended Practice “Financial Statements of
Investment Trust Companies and Venture Capital
Trusts” (“the SORP”) issued by the Association of
Investment Companies in November 2014 and updated
in February 2018. All of the Company’s operations are
of a continuing nature.
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern
basis under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of investments held at fair value
through profit or loss.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
There are no critical accounting estimates or
judgements.
b) Investments
The Company has elected to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of
FRS 102 in respect of investments and other financial
instruments. The Company’s business is investing in
financial assets with a view to profiting from their total
return in the form of income and capital growth.

c) Income
Dividends receivable on listed equity shares are
recognised on the ex-dividend date as a revenue return.
Dividends receivable on equity shares where no
ex-dividend date is quoted are recognised when the
Company’s right to receive payment is established.
Overseas dividends are included gross of withholding
tax.
Special dividends are classified as either revenue or
capital depending on their nature.
Scrip dividends are recognised in the capital account.
Income arising from US Treasury Bills is recognised in
the revenue column of the Statement of Comprehensive
Income using the effective interest method.
d) Expenses
All expenses include, where applicable, value added tax
(“VAT”). Expenses are charged through the revenue
account except when expenses are charged to the
capital reserve where a connection with the
maintenance or enhancement of the value of the
investments can be demonstrated.
The investment management fee has been charged in
full to the revenue column of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, so as to reflect the Directors’
long-term view of the expected investment returns of
the Company.
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a) Basis of accounting
ScotGems plc is a public company limited by shares, is
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales and
carries on business as an investment trust. The
Company’s shares were admitted to the Official List of
the UK Listing Authority with a premium listing on
26 June 2017. On the same day, trading of the Ordinary
Shares commenced on the London Stock Exchange. The
accounts cover the year to 31 December 2018. Details of
the Company’s status and registered office can be found
on page 10 and inside the back cover.

Listed investments are carried at fair value through
profit or loss. Investments are recognised and
de-recognised at trade date where a purchase or sale is
under a contract whose terms require delivery within
the time frame established by the market concerned,
and are initially measured at cost. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investments are valued at fair value which
for listed investments is deemed to be bid price or last
traded price. Gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value are included as a capital item in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income and are ultimately
recognised in the Capital Reserve. Gains and losses
arising on realisation of investments are included in the
Capital Reserve.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
e) Other financial instruments
Other debtors and creditors do not carry any interest,
are short term in nature and initially recognised at fair
value and then held at amortised cost, with debtors
reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts.
Cash at bank and in hand may comprise cash and
demand deposits which are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and are subject to insignificant
risk of changes in value.
f) Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the net loss for the
year and takes into account taxation deferred because
of timing differences between the treatment of certain
items for taxation and accounting purposes.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing
differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events that
result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a
right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the
balance sheet date.
A net deferred tax asset is recognised as recoverable
and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all
available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely
than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
against which to recover carried forward tax losses and
from which the future reversal of underlying timing
differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that
are expected to apply in the periods in which the
timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax
rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is
measured on an undiscounted basis.
g) Foreign currency
The results and financial position of the Company are
expressed in pounds sterling. This is the functional and
reporting currency of the Company as most investors
in the Company are based in the United Kingdom.
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are
recorded in the functional currency at actual exchange
rates as at the date of the transaction. Investments,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the year end are reported at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the year end.
h) Capital reserve
The following are accounted for in this reserve:
• gains and losses on the realisation of investments;
• realised exchange differences of a capital nature;
• increases and decreases in the valuation of
investments held at the year end; and
• unrealised exchange differences of a capital nature.
i) Business Segment
The Directors are of the opinion that the Company is
engaged in the single business of investing in equity
shares, fixed interest securities and other investments.

2. Income
2017
£’000

Overseas dividends

492

110

Income from fixed interest securities

108

39

3

–

603

149

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Investment Management fee(1)

327

142

Directors’ fees (see Directors Report on page 29)

119

78

28

28

Secretarial and administration fee

101

50

Other expenses

173

99

Total expenses

748

397

Deposit Interest
Total income

3. Expenses

Auditor’s remuneration for the Audit of the Company’s financial statements

(1)

The Company’s AIFM – First State Investments (UK) Limited received a management fee equal to 1% of the
net asset value of the Company less any reduction owing to the cap on expenses set at 1.5% of net assets. In
the year to 31 December 2018 the management fee was £509,000 (2017: £265,000) but was reduced to £327,000
(2017: £142,000) owing to the cap. At 31 December 2018 a net payment of £57,000 (made up of Investment
Management fees due to the Investment Manager of £125,000 less the rebate due from the Investment
Manager in respect of the expenses cap of £182,000) was due from the Investment Manager (2017: £142,000
payable (made up of Investment Management fees due to the Investment Manager of £265,000 less the rebate
due from the Investment Manager in respect of the expenses cap of £123,000)). The Investment Management
fee is allocated wholly to revenue as stated further in note 1(d) on page 17.

4. Taxation

Withholding tax suffered

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

29

16

A deferred tax asset of £164,000 (2017: £56,000) in respect of unutilised expenses at 31 December 2018 has not
been recognised as it is uncertain that there will be taxable profits from which the future reversal of the
deferred tax asset could be deducted.
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2018
£’000

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

5. Factors affecting Tax Charge for year

The tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are
explained below:
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

(1,367)

(1,736)

(260)

(334)

Capital losses not subject to taxation

232

286

Investment income not subject to taxation

(93)

(21)

Excess of expenses over chargeable income

121

69

Withholding tax suffered

29

16

Total tax charge (note 4)

29

16

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

26,329

–

Loss before tax
Corporation tax at standard rate of 19 per cent. (2017: 19.25 per cent.)
Effects of:

6. Investments
Investments listed on a recognised investment exchange
Opening book cost
Opening unrealised depreciation
Opening valuation

(545)

–

25,784

–

48,913

33,539

108

39

Movements in the year:
Purchases at cost
Effective yield adjustment
Sales proceeds
Sales – realised gains/(losses) on sales

(32,238)
348

(7,014)
(235)

Unrealised loss on the fair value of investments during the year

(1,918)

Total movement during the year

15,213

25,784

(545)

Closing book cost

43,460

26,329

Closing unrealised depreciation

(2,463)

Closing valuation

40,997

(545)
25,784

6. Investments (continued)
2017
£’000

36,013

18,839

4,984

6,945

40,997

25,784

Represented by:
Equities
US Treasury Bills

Realised gains/(losses) on sales
Unrealised loss on the fair value of investments during the year

348

(235)

(1,918)

(545)

Realised gains/(losses) on foreign exchange

110

(422)

Unrealised gains/(losses) on foreign exchange

238

(286)

Losses on investments

(1,222)

(1,488)

Transaction costs
During the year the Company incurred transaction costs of £54,000 (2017: £50,000) on the purchase of
investments and £14,000 (2017: nil) on the sale of investments.

7. Receivables
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

17

13

193

9

–

1

210

23

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Other payables

218

316

Due to brokers

–

80

Accrued income
Prepayments and other receivables
Due from brokers

8

Payables

Due in respect of costs at launch

–

75*

218

471

*The Company’s Investment Manager – Stewart Investors agreed to pay any launch costs which were in excess of
an amount equal to 1% of the gross proceeds of the Initial Issues.
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2018
£’000

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

9. Called-up Share Capital
Number

2018
£’000

Number

2017
£’000

–

–

53,533,770

535

53,533,770

535

53,533,770

535

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

(1,367)

(1,736)

Allotted, called-up and fully paid Ordinary shares of 1p each:
Shares issued during the year
Balance at 31 December 2018

10. Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of loss before taxation to net cash outflow before dividends, interest,
purchases and sales
Net loss on activities before finance costs and taxation
Net losses on investments

1,570

780

Currency (gains)/losses

(348)

708

Investment income

(600)

(149)

(99)

316

(Decrease)/increase in other payables
Increase in prepayments and other receivables
Net cash outflow from operations before dividends, interest, purchases and sales

(184)

(9)

(1,028)

(90)

11. Risk Management, Financial Assets and Liabilities

The main risks that the Company faces from its financial instruments are market risk (comprising interest rate,
currency and other price risks) and credit risk. As the Company’s assets are mainly in readily realisable securities,
other than in exceptional circumstances there is no significant liquidity risk. The Board, in conjunction with the
Investment Manager, regularly reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. The Investment
Manager’s policies for managing these risks are available on the website and summarised below.
Market Risk
The fair value of, or future cash flows from, a financial instrument held by the Company will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices.
To mitigate this risk, the Investment Manager focuses on investing in soundly managed and financially strong
companies with good growth prospects and ensures the portfolio is diversified geographically and by sector at all
times. Existing holdings are scrutinised to ensure corporate performance expectations are met and valuations are
not excessive. The portfolio valuation and transactions undertaken by the Investment Manager are regularly
reviewed by the Board.
Interest Rate Risk
The possible effects on fair value and cash flows that could arise as a result of changes in interest rates are taken
into account when making investment decisions.
The interest rate risk profile of the Company at 31 December is shown below.
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

8,849

25,932

8,849

25,932

Interest Rate Risk Profile
Cash

Interest Rate Sensitivity
Considering effects on cash balances, an increase of 50 basis points in interest rates would have increased net
assets and total return for the year by £44,000 (2017: £65,000). A decrease of 50 basis points would have had an
equal but opposite effect. The calculations are based on the cash balances at the balance sheet date and are not
representative of the year as a whole.
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The Company invests mainly in global small cap companies and US Treasury Bills. Other financial instruments
comprise cash balances and short-term debtors and creditors. The Investment Manager follows the investment
policy outlined on page 10 and in addition the Board conducts quarterly reviews with the Investment Manager.
The Investment Manager’s Risk and Compliance department monitors the Company’s investment and borrowing
powers to ensure that risks are controlled and minimised. Additionally, its Compliance and Risk Committee
reviews risk management processes monthly.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

11. Risk Management, Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
Foreign Currency Risk
The majority of the Company’s assets, liabilities and income were denominated in currencies other than sterling
(the currency in which the Company reports its results) as at 31 December 2018. The Statement of Financial
Position therefore can be significantly affected by movements in foreign exchange rates. It is not the Company’s
policy to hedge this risk on a continuing basis but the Company reserves the right to undertake foreign exchange
hedging of its portfolio. The revenue account is subject to currency fluctuation arising on dividends paid in foreign
currencies. The Company does not hedge this currency risk.
2018
Overseas
Investments

2018
Net
monetary
assets

2018
2017
Total
currency
Overseas
exposure Investments

2017
Net
monetary
assets

2017
Total
currency
exposure

Singapore dollar

4,163

4,802

8,965

2,854

14,396

17,250

Indian rupee

7,452

–

7,452

–

–

–

US dollar

4,984

100

5,084

6,945

20

6,965

Indonesian rupiah

3,357

–

3,357

1,089

–

1,089

Korean won

3,191

16

3,207

1,819

10

1,829

South African rand

3,099

–

3,099

1,812

–

1,812

Nigerian naira

2,871

–

2,871

2,918

–

2,918

Philippine peso

2,856

–

2,856

1,763

–

1,763

Hong Kong dollar

2,748

–

2,748

1,346

–

1,346

Malaysian ringgit

2,035

–

2,035

1,551

–

1,551

Turkish lira

1,871

–

1,871

–

–

–

Mexican peso

1,530

–

1,530

1,035

–

1,035

Taiwan dollar

840

–

840

1,626

(40)

1,586

Euro

–

–

–

534

–

534

Australian dollar

–

–

–

492

–

492

40,997

4,918

45,915

25,784

14,386

40,170

Sterling
Total Currency

–

3,923

3,923

–

11,098

11,098

40,997

8,841

49,838

25,784

25,484

51,268

11. Risk Management, Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Singapore dollar
Indian rupee
US dollar
Indonesian rupiah
Korean won
South African rand
Nigerian naira
Philippine peso
Hong Kong dollar
Malaysian ringgit
Turkish lira
Mexican peso
Taiwan dollar
Euro
Australian dollar
Total

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

448
373
254
168
160
155
144
143
137
102
94
76
42
–
–

862
–
348
54
91
91
146
88
67
78
–
52
79
27
25

2,296

2,008

Other Price Risk
Changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate or currency risk, will affect the value of
quoted investments. It is the Board’s policy to hold an appropriate spread of investments in the portfolio in order
to reduce the risk arising from factors specific to a particular country or sector. The Investment Manager monitors
market prices throughout the year and reports to the Board on a regular basis.
Other Price Risk Sensitivity
If market values at the Balance Sheet date had been 10 per cent higher or lower with all other variables remaining
constant, the return attributable to ordinary shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have
increased/(decreased) by £4,099,700 (2017: £2,578,400) and equity reserves would have increased/(decreased) by
the same amount.
Liquidity Risk
This is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities. Liquidity risk is not significant as the majority of the Company’s assets are investments in quoted
securities that are readily realisable. The Company has the power to take out borrowings, which could give it
access to additional funding when required.
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Currency Risk Sensitivity
At 31 December 2018, if sterling had strengthened by 5 per cent in relation to all currencies, with all other variables
held constant, total net assets and total return on ordinary activities would have decreased by the amounts shown
below. A 5 per cent weakening of sterling against all currencies, with all other variables held constant, would have
had an equal but opposite effect on the financial statement amounts.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

11. Risk Management, Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the year end, based on the earliest date on which payment can
be required, are as follows:

Other creditors and accruals
Amount due to brokers

3 months
or less
£’000

2018
3 to 12
months
£’000

More than
12 months
£’000

3 months
or less
£’000

2017
3 to 12
months
£’000

More than
12 months
£’000

218

–

–

391

–

–

–

–

–

80

–

–

218

–

–

471

–

–

Credit Risk
This is the risk that a failure of a counterparty to a transaction to discharge its obligations under that transaction
could result in a loss to the Company.
Investment transactions are carried out with a large number of approved brokers, whose credit-standing is
reviewed periodically by the Investment Manager. Transactions are ordinarily done on a delivery versus payment
basis whereby the Company’s custodian bank ensures that the counterparty to any transaction entered into by
the Company has delivered on its obligations before any transfer of cash or securities away from the Company
is completed.
Cash exposures are carefully managed to ensure that money is placed on deposit with reputable counterparties
meeting a minimum credit rating.
None of the Company’s financial assets are past due or impaired.
In summary, compared to the amounts in the Statement of Financial Position, the maximum exposure to credit
risk at 31 December 2018 was as follows:
2018
2018
Balance Maximum
sheet
exposure
£’000
£’000

2017
2017
Balance Maximum
sheet
exposure
£’000
£’000

Current assets
Cash at bank
Receivables

8,849

8,849

25,932

25,932

199

199

14

14

9,048

9,048

25,946

25,946

Capital Management
The Company’s capital is represented by its capital and reserves as presented in the Statement of Financial
Position on page 14. The capital of the Company is managed in accordance with its investment policy, in pursuit of
its business model and strategy for achieving objectives, both of which are detailed in the Strategic Report on
pages 10 to 12.
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Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

36,013

–

–

36,013

4,984

–

–

4,984

40,997

–

–

40,997

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

18,839

–

–

18,839

6,945

–

–

6,945

25,784

–

–

25,784

As at 31 December 2018
Listed equities
US Treasury Bills
Total financial instruments

As at 31 December 2017
Listed equities
US Treasury Bills
Total financial instruments

The table above provides an analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities based on the fair value hierarchy
described below. Short term balances are excluded from the table as their carrying value at the reporting date
approximates to their fair value.
Fair Value Hierarchy
The fair value hierarchy used to analyse the fair values of financial assets and liabilities is described below.
The levels are determined by the lowest (that is, the least reliable or lease independently observable) level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement for the individual investment in its entirety as follows:
Level 1 – investments with prices quoted in an active market;
Level 2 – investments whose fair value is based directly on observable current market prices or is indirectly being
derived from market prices; and
Level 3 – investments whose fair value is determined using a valuation technique based on assumptions that are
not supported by observable current market prices or are not based on observable market data.

12. Related Party Transactions

Related party transactions with the Directors, for the year ended 31 December 2018 are disclosed in the Directors’
Report on page 29. At the year end there were no outstanding payments due to the Directors (2017: £16,500). The
AIFM, the Investment Manager and the Company have entered into the Investment Management Agreement.
Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the AIFM has delegated to Stewart Investors the
management of the Company’s portfolio subject to its and the Directors’ overall supervision. Details of transactions
during the year and the balance outstanding at the year end are disclosed in note 3.
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Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value

Unaudited Financial Information

Alternative Investment Fund Managers
Directive (“AIFMD”)

Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”)

In accordance with the AIFMD, information in relation
to the Company’s leverage and the remuneration of the
Company’s AIFM, First State Investments (UK) Limited
(“First State”), is required to be made available to
investors. In accordance with the Directive, the AIFM’s
remuneration policy and remuneration disclosures in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 are
available from First State on request.
The Company’s maximum and actual leverage levels at
31 December 2018 are shown below:

Maximum limit
Actual

Gross
Method

Commitment
Method

200%

200%

92%

100%

The process for calculating exposure under each
method is largely the same, except that, where certain
conditions are met, the Commitment method allows
instruments to be netted off to reflect ‘netting’ or
‘hedging’ arrangements and the Company’s leverage
exposure would then be reduced.
There have been no changes to the Company’s investor
disclosure document in the year to 31 December 2018.
The investor disclosure document and all additional
periodic disclosures required in accordance with the
requirements of the FCA Rules implementing the
AIFMD in the UK are made available on the Company’s
website (www.scotgems.com).

Ongoing Charges
The ongoing charges ratio has been calculated in
accordance with guidance issued by the AIC as the
total of investment management fees and
administrative expenses of the Company and
expressed as a percentage of the average net asset
values throughout the year.
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Investment management fees

327

142

Administrative expenses

421

255

Ongoing charges

748

397

50,899

51,508

1.47

1.50*

Average net assets
Ongoing charges ratio (%)

(1)

Expenses are capped by the Investment Manager at
1.5% of the Company’s year end net asset value.
* Annualised.
(1)

Share Price Discount to NAV
The amount by which the Ordinary share price is lower
than the net asset value per Ordinary share. The
discount is normally expressed as a percentage of the
net asset value per share.
2018

2017

Net Asset Value
per share

a

93.10p

95.77p

Share price

b

92.50p

93.00p

Discount

c

0.6%

2.9%

c = (b-a)/a

Directors’ Report

Board of Directors
William Salomon (Chairman)
Shares held: 250,000
Fees during year: £30,000
He is the Senior Partner of Hansa Capital Partners,
Deputy Chairman of Ocean Wilsons Holdings Limited
and its listed subsidiary Wilsons Sons Limited and a
Director of Hansa Trust PLC. William has worked
within the fund investment business for many years
and was responsible for developing Finsbury Asset
Management and the Finsbury range of funds based on
the concept of early recognition of key investment
trends, such as life sciences and technology.
James Findlay
Shares held: 500,000

Fees during year: £22,000

He is a founding partner and a director of Findlay Park
Partners LLP. He began his City career with Hoare
Govett in 1978 and was a fund manager and Director of
Foreign and Colonial Management Limited from 1983
to 1997. He is currently a non-executive Director of Troy
Asset Management Limited.
James Maclaurin
Shares held: 30,000

Fees during year: £25,000

He has a background in the telecoms and technology
sectors and is currently the CEO of a telecom startup in
the UK. Prior to this James was the founding CEO of
edotco, the spinout of Axiata’s infrastructure in five
Asian markets and from April 2011 to April 2014 he was
Group CFO of its parent, Axiata, one of Asia’s largest
telecommunications groups. During the previous
decade James was CFO for Vodafone in Central Europe
and Africa, Group CFO of Celtel the pan-African
mobile operator prior to its sale to Airtel and CFO of

UbiNetics, the Cambridge UK based software
developer successfully sold to Cambridge Silicon Radio
(CSR plc) and Aeroflex. He is currently an independent
non-executive director for Dialog Axiata PLC.
James is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland.
Angus Tulloch
Shares held: 1,010,096*

Fees during year: £20,000

He is a former Joint Managing Partner of Stewart
Investors. Joining Stewart Ivory in 1988, he established
that firm’s Asia Pacific (ex Japan) desk, founding and
managing various regional investment mandates over
the following 28 years; these included Asia Pacific,
Global Emerging Markets and Asian Small Cap
strategies. Prior to joining Stewart Ivory, Angus was
employed by Cazenove for eight years, three of which
were spent based in their Hong Kong office.
*In addition, 2,000,000 shares are held by the Tam
O’Shanter Trust of which Angus Tulloch is the
Chairman.
Anne West
Shares held: 250,000

Fees during year: £22,000

She has a background in investment management and
retired from Cazenove Capital Management at the end
of 2012 and was most recently a Fund Director in the
Private Client department of Cazenove Capital
Management. She joined Cazenove in 1989 and
assumed responsibility for Asian and Japanese
portfolios, later becoming Head of the Emerging
Markets team and then the Global Equity team. She
was Chief Investment Officer from 2001 to 2008.
Previously, she held positions at Standard Chartered
Bank and Hambro Pacific, based in Hong Kong. She is a
non-executive Director of Hg Capital Trust plc and The
Scottish Oriental Smaller Companies Trust plc.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Annual
Report together with the Accounts of the Company for
the year to 31 December 2018.

Directors’ Report (continued)

Activities

A review of the Company’s activities during the year
can be found in the Strategic Report on pages 10 to 12
and in the Chairman’s Statement and Investment
Manager’s Report.

Responsibility Statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing financial
statements for each financial period. The Directors are
also required to prepare a Strategic Report, Directors’
Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate
Governance statement in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial period. Under
that law the Directors have prepared the financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102
“The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the
UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law). Under
company law, the Directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the net return of the Company for that
year. In preparing these financial statements, the
Directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 102, have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements respectively; and
• prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position

of the Company and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
The financial statements are published on the
Company’s website, www.scotgems.com. The Directors
are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
Company’s website and financial information included
within the website. The work carried out by the
Auditors does not involve consideration of these
matters and, accordingly, the Auditors accept no
responsibility for changes that may have occurred to
the financial statements since they were initially
presented on the website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

Responsibility Statement under The Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules
Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are
listed in this Directors’ Report, confirms that, to the
best of his or her knowledge:

• the financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102, and
applicable law), give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and net loss of
the Company; and
• the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and
the position of the Company, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that it faces.
In addition, each of the Directors considers that the
Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s
performance, position, business model and strategy.

Going Concern

Viability Statement

The Board considered its obligation to assess the
viability of the Company over a period longer than the
twelve months from the date of approval of the
financial statements required by the ‘going concern’
basis of accounting.
The Board considers the Company, with no fixed life, to
be a long term investment vehicle but, for the purposes
of this viability statement, has decided that a period of
five years is an appropriate period over which to report.
The Board considers that this period reflects a balance
between looking out over a long term horizon and the
inherent uncertainties of looking out further than five
years.
When deciding on this period the Directors considered
the Company’s portfolio of global smaller companies,
the holding period of which will typically be five to ten
years.
The Directors have also carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks as noted in the Strategic Report on
page 12 and discussed in note 11 to the financial
statements that are facing the Company over the period
of the review, including those that would threaten its
business model, future performance, solvency or
liquidity.
Based on the results of this analysis, the Directors have
a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able
to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they
fall due over the five year period of their assessment.

Capital Structure

At 31 December 2018 there were 53,533,770 Ordinary
shares of £0.01 each in issue.
From the authority granted at the April 2018 AGM, the
Company, at 31 December 2018, had the remaining
authority to buy-back 8,024,712 Ordinary shares as no
shares were bought back during the year ending
31 December 2018.
Revenue profits of the Company (including
accumulated revenue reserves) and realised capital
profits are available for distribution by way of
dividends to the holders of the Ordinary shares
(excluding any Ordinary shares held in Treasury, which
have no entitlement to dividends).
Voting rights and deadlines for exercising voting rights
can be found in the Notes for the Annual General
Meeting (“AGM”) which can be found on pages 50 to 52.

Results

The results for the year are set out in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income on page 13. The Company does
not propose to pay a dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Substantial Interests

The Company has been informed of the following
notifiable interests in the voting rights of the Company
as at 31 December 2018:
Number of
Shares
held

% of total
voting
rights

Rathbone Investment
Management

5,061,650

9.5%

Royal Bank of Canada*

5,000,000

9.3%

Charles Stanley Group

4,439,000

8.3%

LGT Vestra

2,861,010

5.3%

* Royal Bank of Canada act as trustee to the Stewart Investors
Employee Benefit Trust. The Trust has been in place since 2005 and
is designed to align employees with Stewart Investors’ clients and
focus employees on absolute returns over an appropriately long
time-horizon.
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The Directors believe, in the light of the controls and
review processes reported in the Report of the Audit
Committee on pages 40 and 41 and bearing in mind the
nature of the Company’s business and assets, which are
considered to be readily realisable if required, that the
Company has adequate resources to continue operating
for at least twelve months from the date of approval of
the financial statements. For this reason, they continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
accounts.

Directors’ Report (continued)

On 11 January 2019, the Company was notified that
Brewin Dolphin held shares, representing 5.0% of
voting rights.

Financial Instruments

ought to have taken as a Director in order to make
herself or himself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Auditors are
aware of that information.

Information on the Company’s financial instruments
can be found in the Notes to the Accounts on pages 23
to 27.

Criminal Finance Act 2017

Principal Risks and Risk Management

Capital Entitlement

Information on the principal risks to shareholders and
management of these risks can be found in the Strategic
Report on pages 10 to 12 and in note 11 to the Accounts
on pages 23 to 27.

Directors’ Indemnity

The Company’s Articles of Association entitle any
Director or Officer of the Company to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against any loss or
liability incurred by her or him in the execution of her
or his duties in relation to the Company’s affairs to the
extent permitted by law.
No indemnification was required during the current
year (2017: none).

Carbon Emissions

As the Board has engaged external firms to undertake
the investment management, secretarial and custodial
activities of the Company, the Company has no
greenhouse gas emissions to report from its operations,
nor does it have responsibility for any other emissionsproducing sources under the Companies Act 2006
(Strategic Report and Directors’ Reports) Regulations
2013.

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP have indicated their willingness
to continue in office as Auditors and a resolution
proposing their re-appointment will be proposed
at the AGM.

Statement of Disclosure of Information to
Auditors

As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Auditors are unaware,
and each Director has taken all the steps that he or she

The Company has a commitment to zero tolerance
towards criminal facilitation of tax evasion.
On a winding up, after meeting the liabilities of the
Company, the surplus assets will be paid to ordinary
shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings.

Resolutions to be proposed at the AGM
Resolutions 1 to 9 are self explanatory.

Authority to Allot Shares

Resolution 10 is to authorise the Directors to issue new
shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £107,000,
being 20 per cent. of the total issued shares at 5 March
2019. Resolution 11 is to enable the Directors to issue
such new shares and to reissue shares from Treasury
(see Treasury Shares below) up to an aggregate nominal
amount of £107,000, being 20 per cent. of the total issued
shares at 5 March 2019, for cash without first offering
such shares to existing shareholders pro rata to their
existing shareholdings. The Directors issue new shares
or reissue shares from Treasury only when they believe
it is advantageous to the Company’s shareholders to do
so. In no circumstances would such issue of new shares
or reissue of shares from Treasury result in a dilution of
net asset value per share.
The authorities granted under Resolutions 10 and 11
shall expire (unless they are previously renewed, varied
or revoked) at the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2020 or,
if earlier, on the expiry of 15 months from the passing
of the Resolutions.

Authority to Buy Back Shares

The Company’s current authority to make market
purchases of up to 14.99 per cent. of the issued
Ordinary shares expires at the end of the Annual
General Meeting. Resolution 12 is to renew the
authority for a further period until the Company’s

Treasury Shares

Under UK company law investment trusts are able to
acquire their own shares to hold in Treasury for reissue.
The Directors consider that this facility gives the
Company more flexibility in managing its share capital.
Resolutions 11 and 12 would provide the Directors with
the authority they need to manage Treasury shares.
Treasury shares will be reissued only at a premium to
the net asset value of the shares at the time of sale.
There are currently no shares held in Treasury.

Notice Period for General Meetings

The Company’s Articles of Association enable the
Company to call General Meetings (other than an
Annual General Meeting) on 14 clear days’ notice. In
order for this to be effective, the shareholders must also
approve annually the calling of meetings other than
Annual General Meetings on 14 days’ notice. Resolution
13 will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to
seek such approval. The approval will be effective until
the Company’s next Annual General Meeting, when it
is intended that a similar resolution will be proposed.
The Company meets the requirements for electronic
voting under the Companies Act 2006, offering facilities
for all shareholders to vote by electronic means. The
Directors believe it is in the best interests of the
shareholders for the shorter notice period to be
available to the Company, although it is intended that

this flexibility will be used only for early renewals of
the Board’s authority to issue new shares or reissue
shares from Treasury and only where merited in the
interests of shareholders as a whole.

Recommendation
The Board considers that the resolutions to be proposed
at the AGM are in the best interests of the shareholders
as a whole and recommends that they vote in favour of
such resolutions, as the Directors intend to do in respect
of their own beneficial holdings.
By Order of the Board
PATAC Limited
Secretary
21 Walker Street
Edinburgh EH3 7HX
5 March 2019
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Annual General Meeting in 2020. The price paid for
shares on exercise of the authority will not be less than
the nominal value of £0.01 per share or more than the
higher of (a) 5 per cent. above the average of the middle
market quotations of those shares for the five business
days before the shares are purchased and (b) the higher
of the last independent trade and the highest current
independent bid on the London Stock Exchange. The
authority, which may be used to buy back shares either
for cancellation or to be held in Treasury, will be used
to purchase shares only if, in the opinion of the
Directors, a purchase would be in the best interests of
the shareholders as a whole and would result in an
increase in the net asset value per share for the
remaining shareholders. There are no outstanding
options or warrants to subscribe for equity shares in the
capital of the Company.

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Statement by the Chairman

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. An Ordinary
resolution for the approval of this Report will be put to
shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting. The remuneration policy, which was approved
by shareholders at the Company’s AGM in April 2018,
will next be put to shareholders at the AGM in 2021. In
the event of any proposed material variation to the
policy, shareholder approval will be sought for the
proposed new policy prior to its implementation.
All the Directors are non-executive and the Company
has no employees.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, chaired by William
Salomon and comprising Mr Salomon, James Findlay
and James Maclaurin, reviews the Directors’ fees, and
the remuneration paid to the Investment Manager
(together with the terms and conditions of appointment
of the Investment Manager) on an annual basis. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
clearly define the Committee’s responsibilities. These
terms are reviewed annually and are available for
inspection on the Company’s website.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Directors (other than any Director who for the time
being holds an executive office of employment with the
Company or a subsidiary of the Company) shall be paid
out of the funds of the Company by way of remuneration
for their services as Directors. The aggregate of such fees
shall not exceed £200,000 per annum (or such larger sum
as the Company may, by ordinary resolution, determine)
as the Directors may decide to be divided among them
in such proportion and manner as they may agree or,
failing agreement, equally. Any fee payable to the
Directors under the Articles shall be distinct from any
remuneration or other amounts payable to a Director
under other provisions of the Articles and shall accrue
from day to day.

Service contracts

The Directors do not have service contracts with the
Company. The Directors have appointment letters and,

following initial election by shareholders, are subject to
re-election by shareholders at a maximum interval of
three years.

Fees

The Directors’ fees are determined within the limits set
out in the Company’s Articles of Association and the
Directors are not eligible for bonuses, pension benefits,
share benefits, share options, long-term incentive
schemes or other benefits. The Directors’ fees will be
paid at fixed annual rates and do not have any variable
elements. The Board may determine that additional
remuneration may be paid, from time to time, to any
one or more Directors in the event such Director or
Directors are requested by the Board to perform extra
or special services on behalf of the Company.
The Directors shall be entitled to fees at such rates as
determined by the Board.
The Directors shall also be entitled to be reimbursed for
all expenses incurred in performance of their duties.
These expenses are unlikely to be of a significant amount.
Fees are payable from the date of appointment as a
Director of the Company and cease on date of
termination of appointment. The Directors are not
entitled to compensation for loss of office.
The Board will not pay any incentive fees to any person
to encourage them to become a Director of the Company.
The Board may, however, pay fees to external agencies to
assist the Board in the search and selection of Directors,
no such fees have been paid in the year.

Annual Report on Remuneration

Following review of the level of Directors’ fees for the
forthcoming year the Board concluded that the
amounts should remain unchanged at £30,000 per
annum to the Chairman, £25,000 per annum to the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and £22,000 per
annum to the other Directors except Angus Tulloch
who will receive £20,000 per annum. The fees will be
reviewed annually and may be increased in line with
usual market rates. The Company will also pay
insurance premiums in respect of directors’ and
officers’ insurance taken out on behalf of the Directors.

Director

Interest

2018

2017

William Salomon
(Chairman)

Beneficial

250,000

250,000

James Findlay

Beneficial

500,000

500,000

James Maclaurin

Beneficial

30,000

30,000

Angus Tulloch*

Beneficial

1,010,096

1,010,096

Anne West

Beneficial

250,000

250,000

* In addition 2,000,000 shares are held by the Tam O’Shanter Trust, of
which Angus Tulloch is the Chairman.

There were no changes to the above holdings between
31 December 2018 and 5 March 2019.
Directors’ Remuneration for the year (Audited)
Year ended
31 December
2018
Fees

Period ended
31 December
2017
Fees

William Salomon
(Chairman)

£30,000

£19,576

James Findlay

£22,000

£14,356

James Maclaurin

£25,000

£16,507

Angus Tulloch

£20,000

£13,051

Anne West

£22,000

£14,356

£119,000

£77,846

Director

Total

The rates of Directors’ fees for the year ended
31 December 2018 were set out in the Annual Report
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Relative Importance of Directors’ Fees
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Directors’ fees

119

78

Expenses

748

397

Directors’ fees and salaries as a percentage of:

Expenses

2018
%

2017
%

15.9

19.6

Further details of the Company’s expenses can be
found in note 3 on page 19.
The Directors’ Remuneration Report for the period
ended 31 December 2017 was approved by Shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 April 2018.
The votes cast by proxy were as follows:
Directors’ Remuneration
Report

Number
of votes

% of
votes cast

For

9,313,077

99.95

4,700

0.05

259

0.00

9,318,036

100.00

Against
At Chairman’s discretion
Total votes cast
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Directors’ Interests (Audited)
The Directors at the end of the year and their interests
in the shares of the Company at 31 December 2018 were
as follows:

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy for the period
ended 31 December 2017 was approved by Shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 April 2018,
and will next be put to shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting in 2021. The votes cast by proxy were
as follows:
Directors’ Remuneration
Policy

Number
of votes

% of
votes cast

For

9,313,077

99.95

Against

4,700

0.05

259

0.00

9,318,036

100.00

At Chairman’s discretion
Total votes cast

Company Performance
The following chart shows the performance of the
Company’s share price by comparison to the MSCI AC
World Index, on a total return basis. The Board deems
the MSCI AC World Index to be the most appropriate
comparator for this report.
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On behalf of the Board

William Salomon
Chairman
5 March 2019

Corporate Governance

Introduction

The Board considers that reporting against the
principles and recommendations of the AIC Code, and
by reference to the AIC Guide (which incorporates the
UK Corporate Governance Code), will provide more
relevant information to Shareholders than solely
reporting against the UK Corporate Governance Code.
The Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”), the UK’s
independent regulator for corporate reporting and
governance responsible for the UK Corporate
Governance Code, has endorsed the AIC Code and the
AIC Guide. The terms of the FRC’s endorsement mean
that AIC members who report against the AIC Code
and the AIC Guide meet fully their obligations under
the UK Corporate Governance Code and the related
disclosure requirements contained in the Listing Rules.

Compliance

The Company has complied throughout the year, and
continues to comply, with the recommendations of the
AIC Code and the relevant provisions of the UK Code,
except as disclosed below.
The Board does not consider it appropriate for a Senior
Independent Director to be appointed as recommended
by provision A.4.1 of the UK Code, as it operates as a
unitary Board.
The Board does not consider it appropriate for Directors
to be appointed for a specific term as recommended by
principle 4 of the AIC Code and provision B.2.3 of the
UK Code. However, the Company’s practice is that each
Director will retire annually and, if appropriate, stand
for re-election.
The Board is an entirely non-executive Board and the
Directors are involved in discussions to determine their
own remuneration taking various factors into

consideration. William Salomon, the Chairman, also
chairs the Remuneration and Management Engagement
Committee. The Board considers that it is appropriate
for Mr Salomon to be Chairman of the Committee as
he is considered to be independent and has no conflicts
of interests.

Directors

Angus Tulloch and Anne West are not considered
independent. Angus Tulloch is a former Joint Managing
Partner at Stewart Investors and Anne West is a
director of The Scottish Oriental Smaller Companies
Trust plc, which is also managed by First State
Investment Management (UK) Limited.
All other non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent in character and judgement and, in the
opinion of the Board, there are no relationships or
conflicts of interest which are likely to affect the
judgement of any Director.
Directors’ fees are determined within the limits set out
in the Company’s Articles of Association. The approval
of shareholders in a General Meeting is required to
change this limit.
Date of
Appointment

Due date for
Re-election

William Salomon
(Chairman)

5 May 2017

AGM 2019

James Findlay

5 May 2017

AGM 2019

James Maclaurin

5 May 2017

AGM 2019

Director

Angus Tulloch

5 May 2017

AGM 2019

Anne West

5 May 2017

AGM 2019

Any new Directors appointed during the year must
stand for election at the first Annual General Meeting
following their appointment.
Individual Directors may, after having obtained the
consent of any other Director, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense on any
matter that concerns the furtherance of their duties.
Details of the Directors’ authority in relation to the
issue and buying back by the Company of its shares can
be found in the Directors’ Report. Similarly, details of
those persons with significant holdings in the
Company are set out in the Directors’ Report.
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The Board of the Company has considered the
principles and recommendations of the AIC Code by
reference to the AIC Guide. The AIC Code, as explained
by the AIC Guide, addresses all the principles set out in
the UK Corporate Governance Code, as well as setting
out additional principles and recommendations on
issues that are of specific relevance to the Company as
an investment company. A copy of the AIC Code can be
viewed on the AIC’s website www.theaic.co.uk/aiccode-of-corporate-governance-0.

Corporate Governance (continued)

Conflicts of Interest

The Companies Act 2006 requires that a Director of the
Company must avoid a situation in which he or she has,
or might have, an interest that conflicts, or may conflict,
with the interests of the Company. Each Director
submits a list of potential conflicts prior to each
meeting. The other Directors consider these and
recommend whether or not each potential conflict
should be authorised. No situation arose during the
year whereby an interest of a Director conflicted with
the interests of the Company.

Meetings

The Directors meet at regular Board meetings, at least
once every quarter, with additional meetings arranged
as necessary. Details of the decisions taken by the
Board and those which are delegated can found in the
Strategic Report on page 11. The number of scheduled
Board, Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committee meetings held during the year ended
31 December 2018 and the attendance of the individual
Directors is shown below:

Board
meetings

Audit
Committee
meetings

Nomination
Committee
meetings

Remuneration
Committee
meetings

William Salomon

4/4

2/2

1/1

1/1

James Findlay

3/4

1/2

1/1

1/1

James Maclaurin

4/4

2/2

1/1

1/1

Angus Tulloch

4/4

-

1/1

1/1

Anne West

3/4

-

1/1

1/1

Voting Policy

The Company has given discretionary voting powers
to the Investment Manager. The Board supports the
integration by the Investment Manager of
environmental, social and governance issues in its
investment decision making. In the Investment
Manager’s view, this assists the sustainable
performance of the Company.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders and
places considerable importance on communications
with them. The Investment Manager reports back to the
Board on meetings with shareholders and the
Chairman and other Directors are available to meet
shareholders if required. The Annual General Meeting
of the Company held in London provides a forum, both
formal and informal, for shareholders to meet and
discuss issues with the Board.

Shareholders can also contact the Investment Manager
using communicatons@stewartinvestors.com and
may contact the Board of Directors via the Investment
Manager, or via the Company Secretary at
cosec@patplc.co.uk.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee, chaired by William
Salomon and comprising Mr Salomon, James Findlay,
James Maclaurin, Angus Tulloch and Anne West,
considers the appointment of new Directors. The Board
believes in the benefits of having a diverse range of
skills and backgrounds, and the need to have a balance
of experience, independence, diversity, including
gender, and knowledge on its Board of Directors. All
appointments will continue to be based on merit and
therefore the Board is unwilling to commit to
numerical diversity targets. The Nomination
Committee meets at least annually.

Performance Evaluation

During the year the performance of the Board, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and individual Directors was
evaluated through a discussion based assessment
process led by the Chairman. The performance of the
Chairman was evaluated by the other Directors. The
Board concluded that the Chairman and each Director
contributed effectively and demonstrated commitment
to her or his role. The Board also concluded that the
performance of the Board as a whole and its
committees was effective.
By Order of the Board

PATAC Limited
Secretary
21 Walker Street
Edinburgh EH3 7HX
5 March 2019
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New Directors appointed to the Board are given
induction meetings with the Investment Manager and
Company Secretary, and are provided with all relevant
information regarding the Company and their duties as
a Director. Thereafter, regular briefings are provided on
changes in regulatory requirements that could affect
the Company and the Directors. Professional advisers
report from time to time and Directors will, if
necessary, attend seminars covering relevant issues and
developments.

Report of the Audit Committee

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is chaired by James Maclaurin and
comprises Mr Maclaurin, James Findlay and William
Salomon. The Audit Committee who consider they have
requisite skills, experience, length of service, knowledge
of the Company and independence to fulfil their roles
met twice in 2018 to coincide with the annual and
interim reporting cycle. The principal role of the Audit
Committee is to review the annual and interim financial
statements, the Accounting Policies applied therein and
to ensure compliance with financial and regulatory
reporting requirements. The Audit Committee discusses
and agrees the scope of the audit plan for the year ahead
and the Auditor’s Report on their findings at the
conclusion of the audit. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee clearly define the Committee’s
responsibilities. These terms are reviewed annually and
are available for inspection on the Company’s website.
The Audit Committee also reviews the system of
internal controls, the terms of appointment of the
Auditors (including their remuneration), the objectivity
of the Auditors and the terms under which they are
appointed to perform non-audit services. The Audit
Committee also received a report from the Auditors
identifying to its satisfaction how their independence
and objectivity is maintained when providing nonaudit services. No such services were provided in the
year to 31 December 2018 (2017: total fees of £19,200).
The Audit Committee assessed the effectiveness of the
audit, the quality of the team and advice received from
them through reviewing interaction with the Auditors,
reports received from them and discussion with
management. The Audit Committee is satisfied with
the effectiveness of the work provided by EY and that
EY are objective and independent.
At the request of the Board, the Audit Committee
considered whether the 2018 Annual Report and
Accounts were fair, balanced and understandable and
whether they provided the necessary information for
shareholders to assess the Company’s performance,
business model and strategy. The Audit Committee is
satisfied that, taken as a whole, the Annual Report and
Accounts are fair, balanced and understandable. The
Audit Committee reached this conclusion based on a

detailed review of the financial statements and
subsequent discussion on whether the accounts are fair,
balanced and understandable by all members of the
Committee.

Audit

Ernst & Young LLP was selected as the Company’s
auditor at the time of the Company’s launch following a
competitive process and review of the Auditor’s
credentials. The appointment of the external auditor
will be reviewed annually by the Audit Committee and
the Board and is subject to approval by Shareholders. In
accordance with the FRC guidance, the audit will be
put out to tender within ten years of the initial
appointment of Ernst & Young LLP. The audit
engagement partner rotates every five years in
accordance with ethical guidelines. 2018 is the second
year for the current partner – Susan Dawe.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of
internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Board has therefore established an ongoing process
designed to meet the particular needs of the Company
in managing the risks to which it is exposed, consistent
with the internal control guidance issued by the
Financial Reporting Council. The process relies
principally on a risk-based system of internal control
whereby a test matrix is created that identifies the key
functions carried out by the Company and other
service providers, the individual activities undertaken
within those functions, the risks associated with each
activity and the controls employed to minimise those
risks. A formal annual review of these procedures is
carried out by the Board and includes consideration of
internal control reports issued by the Investment
Manager and other service providers.
Such review procedures have been in place
throughout the financial year and up to the date of
approval of the Annual Report and Accounts, and the
Board is satisfied with their effectiveness. These
procedures are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, risk and, by their nature, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. At each Board meeting the Board

First State Investments (UK) Limited acts as the
Company’s AIFM for the purposes of the AIFM
Directive and PATAC Limited provides company
secretarial and administrative services to the Company.
J.P. Morgan Europe Limited provides depositary
services to the Company.
The Company does not have an internal audit function
as the Audit Committee believes that owing to the
Company’s straightforward structure it does not
warrant such a function. This is reviewed by the
Committee annually.

Significant Accounting Matters

The significant issue considered by the Audit
Committee during the year in relation to the financial
statements of the Company was the existence and
valuation of investments. The AIFM regularly
reconciles the portfolio holdings to confirmations from
the Company’s Custodian and carries out testing of the
prices obtained from the independent pricing source.
Based on confirmation from the AIFM that these
procedures have operated correctly at 31 December
2018 and based on conversations with and written
reporting from the Depositary, the Committee is
satisfied that there is no material misstatement in the
context of the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole.

James Maclaurin
Director
5 March 2019
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reviews the Company’s activities since the previous
Board Meeting to ensure that the Investment Manager
adheres to the agreed investment policy and approved
investment guidelines and, if necessary, the Board
approves changes to the guidelines.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of ScotGems plc

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of ScotGems
plc for the year ended 31 December 2018 which
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income,
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes
of Equity, Cash Flow Statement and the related notes
1 to 12, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards including FRS
102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the
UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs as
at 31 December 2018 and of its loss for the year then
ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report below. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as
applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going
concern and viability statement

We have nothing to report in respect of the following
information in the annual report, in relation to which
the ISAs(UK) require us to report to you whether we
have anything material to add or draw attention to:
• the disclosures in the annual report set out on
page 12 that describe the principal risks and explain
how they are being managed or mitigated;
• the Directors’ confirmation set out on page 31 in the
annual report that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the entity,
including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity;
• the Directors’ statement set out on page 31 in the
annual report about whether they considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing them, and their
identification of any material uncertainties to the
entity’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at
least twelve months from the date of approval of the
financial statements;
• whether the Directors’ statement in relation to going
concern required under the Listing Rules in
accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the
audit; or
• the Directors’ explanation set out on page 31 in the
annual report as to how they have assessed the
prospects of the entity, over what period they have
done so and why they consider that period to be
appropriate, and their statement as to whether they
have a reasonable expectation that the entity will be
able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities
as they fall due over the period of their assessment,
including any related disclosures drawing attention
to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Overview of our audit approach
• Incomplete or inaccurate revenue recognition, including classification as revenue or
capital in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
• Incorrect valuation and existence of the investment portfolio
Materiality

• Overall materiality of £498,380 which represents 1% of net assets of the Company

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current year and include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Risk

Our response to the risk

Incomplete or inaccurate revenue
recognition, including
classification as revenue or capital
in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income:

We have performed the following
procedures:

The investment income receivable
by the Company during the year
directly affects the Company’s
ability to make a dividend
payment to shareholders. The
income receivable for the year to
31 December 2018 was £603k, with
the majority of the income being
dividend payments from listed
equities as well as interest income
from US Treasury Bills.
There is a risk of incomplete or
inaccurate recognition of income
through the failure to recognise
proper income entitlements or
apply appropriate accounting
treatment in particular relating to
the categorisation of special
dividends and journal entries
applied to the income account.

We obtained an understanding of
the Manager’s and Administrator’s
processes and controls surrounding
revenue recognition and allocation
of special dividends by performing
our walkthrough procedures to
evaluate the design and
implementation of controls.

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee
The results of our procedures are:
We have no issues to communicate
with respect to our assessment of
the Manager’s and Administrator’s
processes and controls surrounding
the revenue recognition and
allocation of special dividends.

We agreed 100% of dividend
receipts to an independent source,
recalculating these amounts and
We agreed 100% of dividend receipts agreeing them to the bank
to the corresponding announcement statements and noted no issues.
made by the investee company,
We agreed the sample of investee
recalculated the dividend amount
company announcements to the
received and agreed cash received to
income entitlements recorded by
bank statements.
the Company and noted no issues.
We agreed a sample of investee
We noted no issues in recalculating
companies dividend announcements
the accrued dividends, agreeing,
from an independent data vendor to
where possible, to post year end
the income recorded by the
bank statements, and confirming
Company to test completeness of the
that the income obligation arose
income recorded.
prior to 31 December 2018.

43
ScotGems
Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matters

Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of ScotGems plc (continued)

Risk

Our response to the risk

Special dividends by their nature
require the exercise of judgment as to
whether the income should be
classified as “revenue” or “capital” for
S1158 Corporation Tax Act 2010
(“CTA”) purposes. The revenue
column of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income is the main
driver of the minimum dividend
calculation. There is therefore a risk
that an incorrect classification could
potentially result in an under
distribution of income and put the
Company’s investment trust status at
risk.

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

For all dividends accrued at the year
end, we inspected the investee
company announcements to assess
whether the dividend obligation
arose prior to 31 December 2018. We
agreed the dividend rate to
corresponding announcements made
by the investee company,
recalculated the dividend amount
receivable and agreed cash received
to post year end bank statements,
where possible.
We inspected all income receipts and
verified these against an independent
data vendor to determine if any
There is also a risk that inappropriate receipts were classed as special
journal entries applied to the income dividends. We also reviewed the
account could result in a manipulation acquisitions and disposals report for
of the Company’s revenue to support any potential special dividends
treated as capital to assess if any
performance and dividend targets.
should be treated as revenue. One
special dividend in excess of our
testing threshold was identified
which was treated as capital.
We recalculated the interest income
for all the US Treasury Bills.

We agreed the accounting treatment
adopted with respect to the special
dividend identified.

We performed the following
procedures:
We obtained an understanding of
the Manager’s and Administrator’s
processes and controls surrounding
investment pricing and trade
processing by performing a
walkthrough.
For all listed investments and the US
Treasury Bills in the portfolio, we
agreed the market prices and
exchange rates applied to an
independent pricing vendor.

The results of our procedures are:
We have no issues to communicate
with respect to our assessment of
the Manager’s and Administrator’s
processes and controls surrounding
investment pricing and trade
processing.

Incorrect valuation and defective
title of the investment portfolio:
The valuation of the assets held in
the investment portfolio is the key
driver of the Company’s net asset
value and total return. Incorrect
asset pricing or a failure to maintain
proper legal title of the assets held
by the Company could have a
significant impact on the portfolio
valuation and the return generated
for shareholders.

We noted no issues with the
recalculation of interest income from
the US Treasury Bill.

For all listed equities and US
Treasury Bills, we noted no material
differences in market prices or
exchange rates when compared to
an independent source.

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Listed investments are valued at fair
value, which is deemed to be bid
value, or last traded price depending
on the convention of the stock
exchange on which the investment
is listed.

We inspected the pricing exception
report as at 31 December 2018 for
unusual or static price movements.

We noted no exceptions in
reviewing the pricing exceptions
report.

To confirm the existence of the
assets held as at 31 December 2018
we independently obtained
confirmation from the Custodian
and Depositary of all securities held
at the year end and agreed all
securities held to the Company’s
underlying financial records.

We noted no differences between
the Custodian and Depositary
confirmations and the Company’s
underlying financial records.

All investments are held by an
independent custodian, JP Morgan
Chase Bank, and independent
depositary, JP Morgan Europe,
which mitigates the risk of
misappropriation of assets.
The valuation of the portfolio at
31 December 2018 was £41m,
consisting of listed equities and
a US Treasury Bill.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Tailoring the scope

Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of
materiality and our allocation of performance
materiality determine our audit scope for the Company.
This enables us to form an opinion on the financial
statements. We take into account size, risk profile, the
organisation of the Company and effectiveness of
controls, including controls and changes in the business
environment when assessing the level of work to be
performed. All audit work was performed directly by
the audit engagement team.

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and
performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of
identified misstatements on the audit and in forming
our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that,
individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of the users of the

financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for
determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures.
We determined materiality for the Company to be
£498k (2017: £513k), which is 1% of net assets. We believe
that net asset value of the Company provides us with
materiality aligned to the key measurement of the
Company’s performance.

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the individual account or
balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to an
appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.
On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our
assessment of the Company’s overall control
environment, our judgement was that performance
materiality was 75% (2017: 50%) of our planning
materiality, namely £374k (2017: £256k). We have set
performance materiality at this percentage due to our
past experience of the audit that indicates a lower risk
of misstatements, both corrected and uncorrected.
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Risk

Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of ScotGems plc (continued)

Given the importance of the distinction between
revenue and capital for the Company we also applied a
separate testing threshold of £25k (2017: £26k) for the
revenue column of the Statement of Comprehensive
Income, being 5% of planning materiality.

Reporting threshold

In this context, we also have nothing to report in regard
to our responsibility to specifically address the
following items in the other information and to report
as uncorrected material misstatements of the other
information where we conclude that those items meet
the following conditions:

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would
report to them all uncorrected audit differences in
excess of £25k (2017: £26k), which is set at 5% of
planning materiality, as well as differences below that
threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds.

• Fair, balanced and understandable set out on
page 40 – the statement given by the Directors that
they consider the annual report and financial
statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s
performance, business model and strategy, is
materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained
in the audit; or

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against
both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed
above and in light of other relevant qualitative
considerations in forming our opinion.

• Audit committee reporting set out on page 40 – the
section describing the work of the audit committee
does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the audit committee; or

An amount below which identified misstatements are
considered as being clearly trivial.

Other information

The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The
Directors are responsible for the other information.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether
there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

• Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code set out on page 37 – the
parts of the Directors’ statement required under the
Listing Rules relating to the Company’s compliance
with the UK Corporate Governance Code containing
provisions specified for review by the auditor in
accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.10R(2) do not
properly disclose a departure from a relevant
provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ remuneration
report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit:
• the information given in the Strategic Report and the
Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements; and
• the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns;
or
• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’
responsibilities statement set out on page 30, the
Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was
considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

The objectives of our audit, in respect to fraud, are; to
identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements due to fraud; to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud,
through designing and implementing appropriate
responses; and to respond appropriately to fraud or
suspected fraud identified during the audit. However,
the primary responsibility for the prevention and
detection of fraud rests with both those charged with
governance of the entity and management.
Our approach was as follows:
• We obtained an understanding of the legal and
regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the
Company and determined that the most significant
are United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, the Companies Act 2006, the Listing Rules,
the UK Corporate Governance Code and section 1158
of the Corporation Tax Act 2010.
• We understood how the Company is complying with
those frameworks through discussions with the
Audit Committee and Company Secretary and
review of the Company’s documented policies and
procedures.
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In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Company and its environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified material
misstatements in the Strategic Report or Directors’
Report.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of ScotGems plc (continued)

• Based on this understanding we designed our audit
procedures to identify non-compliance with such
laws and regulations. Our procedures involved
review of the reporting to the Directors with respect
to the application of the documented policies and
procedures and review of the financial statements to
ensure compliance with the reporting requirements
of the Company.
• We assessed the susceptibility of the Company’s
financial statements to material misstatement,
including how fraud might occur by considering the
key risks impacting the financial statements. We
identified a fraud risk with respect to incomplete or
inaccurate revenue recognition relating to the
allocation of special dividends. Further discussion of
our approach is set out in the section on key audit
matters above.
A further description of our responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://www.
frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

• The audit opinion is consistent with the additional
report to the audit committee

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members,
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.
Susan Dawe (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP,
Statutory Auditor
Edinburgh
5 March 2019

Other matters we are required to address

• We were appointed by the Company on 4 January
2018 to audit the financial statements for the period
ending 31 December 2017 and subsequent financial
periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement including previous renewals and
reappointments is 2 years, covering the years ending
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018.
• The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s
Ethical Standard were not provided to the Company
and we remain independent of the Company in
conducting the audit.

Notes:
1. The maintenance and integrity of the ScotGems plc web site is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by
the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the web site.
2. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Notice of Annual General Meeting

To consider and if thought fit pass the following
resolutions of which resolutions 1 to 10 will be
proposed as ordinary resolutions and resolutions 11
to 13 will be proposed as special resolutions.
1. To receive the Company’s Annual Report and
Accounts for the year to 31 December 2018.
2. To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for
the year to 31 December 2018.
3. To re-elect William Salomon as a Director of the
Company.
4. To re-elect James Findlay as a Director of the
Company.
5. To re-elect James Maclaurin as a Director of the
Company.
6. To re-elect Angus Tulloch as a Director of the
Company.
7. To re-elect Anne West as a Director of the Company.
8. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors to the
Company.
9. To authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of
the auditors until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company.
10. That the Directors be and are hereby generally and
unconditionally authorised to exercise all powers of
the Company to allot relevant securities (as defined
in section 551 of the Companies Act 2006) up to an
aggregate nominal amount equal to £107,000 (being
20% of the total issued share capital as at 5 March
2019) and that this authority shall expire (unless
previously varied, revoked or renewed by the
Company in general meeting) at the conclusion of
the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be
held in 2020 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 15 months
from the passing of this resolution (the “section 551
period”) but so that the Directors may, at any time

prior to the expiry of the section 551 period, make
an offer or agreement which would or might require
relevant securities to be allotted after the expiry of
the section 551 period and the Directors may allot
relevant securities in the pursuance of such an offer
or agreement as if the authority granted by this
resolution had not expired.
11. That, subject to the passing of resolution 10, the
Directors be and are hereby empowered, pursuant
to section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 ("the Act"),
to allot and make offers or agreements to allot
equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the
Act) and/or sell equity securities held as Treasury
shares pursuant to section 573 of the Act, in each
case for cash pursuant to the authority and for the
period of the authority conferred by resolution 10 up
to an aggregate nominal amount of £107,000 (being
20% of the total issued share capital as at 5 March
2019) as if section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to
such allotment.
12. That the Company be and is hereby generally and
unconditionally authorised in accordance with
section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 (“the Act”) to
make market purchases (within the meaning of
section 693(4) of the Act) of its Ordinary Shares of 1p
each, provided that:
(a) the maximum number of Ordinary Shares
hereby authorised to be purchased shall be
8,024,712 (representing 14.99 per cent of the
Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital
(excluding shares held in Treasury) at the date of
the notice of this meeting);
(b) the minimum price (exclusive of any expenses)
which may be paid for an Ordinary Share is 1p;
(c) the maximum price (excluding expenses) which
may be paid for an Ordinary Share is not more
than the higher of (i) 5 per cent above the average
of the middle market quotations for the Ordinary
Shares for the five business days immediately
before the day on which it purchases that share
and (ii) the higher of the price of the last
independent trade and the highest current
independent bid for the Ordinary Shares;
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual General
Meeting of ScotGems plc will be held at the offices of
First State Investments (UK) Limited, Finsbury Circus
House, 15 Finsbury Circus, London, EC2M 7EB on
30 April 2019 at 12.00 noon for the following purposes:

Notice of Annual General Meeting
(continued)

(d) the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the
Company in 2020 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 15
months from the passing of this resolution,
unless such authority is renewed prior to such
time; and
(e) the Company may make a contract to purchase
Ordinary Shares under the authority hereby
conferred prior to the expiry of such authority,
which will or may be executed wholly or partly
after the expiration of such authority and may
make a purchase of Ordinary Shares pursuant to
any such contract.
13. That a general meeting of the Company other than
an Annual General Meeting may be called on not
less than 14 days’ notice, provided that this authority
shall expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next
Annual General Meeting after the date of the
passing of this resolution.
By Order of the Board
PATAC Limited
Secretary
21 Walker Street
Edinburgh EH3 7HX
5 March 2019

Notes
1. To be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting (and
for the purpose of the determination by the
Company of the number of votes they may cast),
members must be entered on the Company’s register
of members at close of business on 26 April 2019
(‘‘the specified time’’). If the meeting is adjourned to
a time not more than 48 hours after the specified
time applicable to the original meeting, the specified
time will also apply for the purpose of determining
the entitlement of members to attend and vote (and
for the purpose of determining the number of votes
they may cast) at the adjourned meeting. If,
however, the meeting is adjourned for a longer
period then, to be so entitled, members must be
entered on the Company’s register of members at
the time which is 48 hours (excluding non-working
days) before the time fixed for the adjourned
meeting or, if the Company gives notice of the
adjourned meeting, at the time specified in
that notice.
2. If you wish to attend the meeting in person, you
should present your attendance card, attached to
your Form of Proxy, to the registration desk on the
day of the meeting. Alternatively, please ensure you
preregister in accordance with the instructions on
your Form of Proxy. Failure to do so may result in
your being prohibited from voting on resolutions
during the meeting. These forms must be submitted
no later than 12 noon on 26 April 2019. Attendance
by non shareholders will be at the discretion of
the Company.
3. Information regarding the Annual General Meeting,
including information required by section 311A of
the Companies Act 2006, is available from
www.scotgems.com.
4. Holders of ordinary shares who are entitled to
attend and vote at the meeting convened by the
foregoing notice may appoint one or more proxies
(who need not be a member or members) to attend,
speak and vote in their place. If appointing more
than one proxy, each proxy must be appointed to
exercise rights attaching to different shares held by
the holder. The instruments appointing a proxy and
the power of attorney or other authority (if any)

5. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or
proxies through the CREST electronic proxy
appointment service may do so by using the
procedures described in the CREST Manual and by
logging on to the website www.euroclear.com/
CREST. CREST personal members or other CREST
sponsored members, and those CREST members
who have appointed a voting service provider(s),
should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting
service provider(s), who will be able to take the
appropriate action on their behalf.
6. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction
made using the CREST service to be valid, the
appropriate CREST message (a ‘‘CREST Proxy
Instruction’’) must be properly authenticated in
accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s
specifications, and must contain the information
required for such instruction, as described in the
CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether
it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an
amendment to the instruction given to a previously
appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be
transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s
registrar (ID number 3RA50) no later than 48 hours
(excluding non-working days) before the time of the
meeting or any adjournment.

For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to
be the time (as determined by the timestamp
applied to the message by the CREST Application
Host) from which the Company’s registrar is able to
retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the
manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any
change of instructions to proxies appointed through
CREST should be communicated to the appointee
through other means.
7. CREST members and, where applicable, their
CREST sponsors, or voting service providers should
note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does not
make available special procedures in CREST for any
particular message. Normal system timings and
limitations will, therefore, apply in relation to the
input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the
responsibility of the CREST member concerned to
take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal
member, or sponsored member, or has appointed a
voting service provider(s), to procure that her/his
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s))
such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a
message is transmitted by means of the CREST
system by any particular time. In this connection,
CREST members and, where applicable, their
CREST sponsors or voting system providers are
referred, in particular, to those sections of the
CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of
the CREST system and timings.
8. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy
Instruction in the circumstances set out in
Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001.
9. The letters of appointment of the Directors are
available for inspection at 21 Walker Street,
Edinburgh EH3 7HX before, during and after the
meeting. They will also be available on the date of
the meeting at 20 Primrose Street, London
EC2A 2EW until the conclusion of the meeting.
10. As at close of business on 5 March 2019, the
Company’s issued share capital comprised
53,533,770 ordinary shares of 1p each. The total
number of voting rights in the Company as at
5 March 2019 is 53,533,770.
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under which it is signed or a notarially certified
copy of that power or authority must be delivered
to the offices of the Company’s Registrars,
Computershare Investor Services PLC, The
Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol, BS99 6ZY or
www.eproxyappointment.com: (i) in the case of a
meeting or adjourned meeting, 48 hours (excluding
non-working days) before the time for holding the
meeting or adjourned meeting; or (ii) in the case of a
poll taken 48 hours after it was demanded, 24 hours
before the time appointed for the taking of the poll.
Return of a completed Form of Proxy will not
preclude a member from attending and voting
personally at the meeting. Members may not use
any electronic address provided in this notice or in
any related documents to communicate with the
Company for any purpose other than those
expressly stated.
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11. Any person holding 3 per cent of the total voting
rights in the Company who appoints a person other
than the Chairman as her/his proxy will need to
ensure that both he/she and such third party
complies with their respective disclosure obligations
under the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules.
12. Under section 319A of the Companies Act 2006, the
Company must answer any question relating to the
business being dealt with at the meeting put by a
member attending the meeting unless:
(a) answering the question would interfere unduly
with the preparation for the meeting or involve
the disclosure of confidential information;
(b) the answer has already been given on the
Company’s website in the form of an answer to a
question; or
(c) it is undesirable in the interests of the Company
or the good order of the meeting that the
question be answered.
13. The members of the Company may require the
Company (without payment) to publish, on its
website, a statement (which is also to be passed to
the auditors) setting out any matter relating to the
audit of the Company’s accounts, including the
Auditor’s Report and the conduct of the audit. The
Company will be required to do so once it has
received such requests from either members
representing at least 5 per cent of the total voting
rights of the Company or at least 100 members who
have a relevant right to vote and hold shares in the
Company on which there has been paid up an
average sum per member of at least £100. Such
requests must be made in writing and must state the
sender’s full name and address and be sent to the
Company’s registered address at 20 Primrose Street,
London EC2A 2EW.

14. Members meeting the threshold requirements set
out in the Companies Act 2006 have the right:
(a) to require the Company to give notice of any
resolution which can properly be, and is to be,
moved at the meeting pursuant to Section 338 of
the Companies Act 2006, and/or
(b) to include a matter in the business to be dealt
with at the meeting, pursuant to Section 338A of
the Companies Act 2006.
15. Any corporation which is a member can appoint one
or more corporate representatives. Members can
appoint more than one corporate representative only
where each corporate representative is appointed
to exercise rights attached to different shares.
Members cannot appoint more than one corporate
representative to exercise the rights attached to the
same share(s).
16. In the case of joint holders, where more than one of
the joint holders purports to appoint one or more
proxies, only the purported appointment submitted
by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority
is determined by the order in which the names of
the joint holders appear in the Company’s register of
members in respect of the joint holding (the first
named being the most senior).
17. Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a
person nominated under section 146 of the
Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information rights (a
‘‘Nominated Person’’) may, under an agreement
between him/her and the member by whom he/she
was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to
have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the
meeting. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy
appointment right or does not wish to exercise it,
he/she may, under any such agreement, have a right
to give instructions to the member as to the exercise
of voting rights.
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